No. S272238

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

FREDDY ALFREDO CURIEL,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G058604 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 02CF2160 The Honorable Julian Bailey, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does a jury's true finding on a gang-murder special circumstance (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(22)) preclude a defendant from making a prima facie showing of eligibility for resentencing under Penal Code section 1170.95?

INTRODUCTION

Freddy Curiel, an active gang member, instigated a confrontation with four individuals who were standing outside an apartment complex, minding their own business. While Curiel continued to provoke the four men, Curiel's companion shot one of them in the chest, killing him. In 2006, a jury convicted Curiel of first degree murder and found a gang-murder special circumstance to be true. In returning that verdict, the jury necessarily concluded that Curiel, while acting as a direct perpetrator or an accomplice, had the intent to kill. (Pen. Code, 1 § 190.2, subd. (a)(22).)

In 2018, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill No. 1437, effective January 1, 2019. The law narrows the felony-murder rule and otherwise limits murder liability to those who personally possess malice. (*People v. Gentile* (2020) 10 Cal.5th 830, 832.) Senate Bill No. 1437 also added section 1170.95, which provides a petition process for individuals with existing murder convictions to seek to vacate those convictions. (*Gentile*, at p. 843.) Under section 1170.95, petitioners who state a prima facie case for relief are entitled to an order to show cause and an evidentiary

¹ All statutory references are to the Penal Code.

hearing, at which the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the petitioner could be convicted of murder under the law as it exists today. (§ 1170.95, subds. (a)-(d).)

Curiel sought relief under section 1170.95. The Superior Court concluded that the jury's true finding that Curiel had the intent to kill rendered him ineligible as a matter of law. The Superior Court was correct. The legislation covers only those persons whose convictions could have been based on either the doctrine of natural and probable consequences or a theory of felony-murder that is no longer valid. It does not extend to a defendant like Curiel, whose conviction must have been based on his personal murderous intent.

This conclusion is supported by the legislative history of Senate Bill No. 1437. This history demonstrates that section 1170.95 has a narrow and limited focus, namely providing relief to convicted murderers who acted without a sufficiently culpable mental state. Accordingly, when as here, counsel has been appointed and given an opportunity to brief the matter, but the petitioner's record of conviction shows intent to kill, the petition should be denied for failing to state a prima facie case for relief.

The Court of Appeal determined, however, that Curiel's personal intent to kill did not make him categorically ineligible for relief under section 1170.95. The Court of Appeal based its holding on the fact that direct aiding and abetting has an actus reus element and that this element was not included in the jury's special-circumstance finding. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal

concluded, Curiel was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his petition.

The Court of Appeal erred. Section 1170.95 did not amend or call for reconsideration of any elements of the crime of malice murder other than the defendant's mental state. The jury's guilty verdict on the underlying murder charge means it conclusively determined that Curiel performed the actus reus—a finding that section 1170.95 does not reopen—and the true finding on the special circumstance means the jury also found malice. Nothing more is required to sustain a conviction under the law of murder as amended by Senate Bill No. 1437, and thus Curiel is ineligible for section 1170.95 relief as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. A jury convicted Curiel of first degree murder and found a gang-murder special circumstance to be true

Early one morning, Cesar Tejada, Raul Ramirez, and three other people were socializing outside Tejada's apartment. (*People v. Curiel* (Feb. 21, 2008) 2008 WL 458520 at *1-2 [nonpub. opn.] (*Curiel I*); CT 225.)² Curiel and Abraham Hernandez walked by the group and angrily stared at them. (*Curiel I*, at *2; CT 225-226.) Ramirez briefly went inside to use the restroom and when he came back outside, Curiel and Hernandez were there. (*Curiel I*, at *2; CT 226.)

² This opinion was attached to the prosecutor's opposition to Curiel's petition for resentencing and was incorporated by reference into the Superior Court's denial order.

Curiel was arguing with Tejada, and asked him, "Where are you from?" (*Curiel I*, *supra*, 2008 WL 458520, at *2; CT 226.) Tejada answered, "I am from nowhere." (*Curiel I*, at *2; CT 226.) Ramirez told Curiel and Hernandez to leave. (*Curiel I*, at *2; CT 226.) Curiel responded, "Shut the fuck up, get the hell out of here This is not your problem, it is not your business." (*Curiel I*, at *2; CT 226.) When someone else told Curiel, "this is not your neighborhood," Curiel yelled that "[t]his is my neighborhood" and "[t]his is OTH." (*Curiel I*, at *2, 20; CT 226, 247.)

The arguing continued. (*Curiel I, supra*, 2008 WL 458520, at *2; CT 226.) Hernandez pulled out a gun and shot Tejada in the chest, killing him, while Curiel stood by. (*Curiel I*, at *2; CT 226.)

Later that morning, the police arrested Curiel. (*Curiel I*, *supra*, 2008 WL 458520, at *2; CT 226.) Initially, Curiel lied about his presence at the shooting. (*Curiel I*, at *2, 5; CT 226, 229.) He eventually admitted he was there, although he denied knowing that Hernandez had a gun. (*Curiel I*, at *2, 5; CT 226, 229.)

OTH is a criminal street gang in which both Curiel and Hernandez were members. (*Curiel I, supra*, 2008 WL 458520, at *3-4; CT 228.) A gang expert testified that, "if there is a gun within a group, that it is expected everybody knows if there is a gun and who has it." (*Curiel I*, at *3; CT 227-228.)

An Orange County jury convicted Curiel of first degree murder (§ 187, subd. (a)), and found true a special circumstance that Curiel committed an intentional killing while Curiel was an

active participant in a criminal street gang and that the murder was carried out to further the activities of the gang (§ 190.2, subd. (a)(22)). The jury also found true a gang enhancement allegation (§ 186.22, subd. (b)(1)(A)) and an arming enhancement (§ 12022.53, subds. (d), (e)), and additionally convicted Curiel of active participation in a criminal street gang (§ 186.22, subd. (a)). (CT 59-60.) As relevant to the issue presented here, Curiel's jury was instructed that it could find him guilty of first degree murder under two theories: as a direct aider and abettor of murder; or as an aider and abettor of a target offense (disturbing the peace or carrying a concealed firearm by a gang member), the natural and probable consequences of which was murder. (Curiel I, supra, 2008 WL 458520, at *17; CT 243-244.) As to the gang murder special circumstance, the court instructed the jury it had to find Curiel intended to kill, that Curiel was a member of criminal street gang, and that the murder was carried out to further the activities of the gang. (CT 197.)

At sentencing, the trial court imposed a term of imprisonment of life without the possibility of parole, plus 25 years to life. (CT 61-62, 112-115.)

In its unpublished opinion in *Curiel I*, *supra*, 2008 WL 458520, the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division Three, affirmed the judgment. The Court of Appeal held there was sufficient evidence to support the trial court's instruction on the natural and probable consequences doctrine with carrying a concealed weapon as a target offense. (*Curiel I*, at *16-18; CT 242-244.)

As to the gang-murder special circumstance, the Court of Appeal found that the special circumstance applies to non-killer aiders and abettors such as Curiel as long as they possessed the requisite intent to kill, assisted the perpetrator, and were active participants in a criminal street gang. (*Curiel I, supra*, 2008 WL 458520, at *19-20; CT 246.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal held there was sufficient evidence, for purposes of the gang-murder special circumstance, that Curiel acted with the requisite intent to kill. Recognizing intent could be inferred from conduct, the Court of Appeal noted that while in OTH gang territory, Curiel confronted Tejada's group, claimed to own the neighborhood, argued with Tejada and Ramirez, and followed Hernandez. And, the gang expert placed Curiel's behavior into context by explaining the culture and habits of criminal street gangs. (*Curiel I, supra*, 2008 WL 458520, at *20; CT 246-247.)

B. Subsequent limitations on murder liability to require malice

After Curiel's conviction and sentence became final, the murder laws substantially changed, insofar as they concern the mens rea for that crime. Previously, "[a] person who knowingly aid[ed] and abet[ted] criminal conduct [wa]s guilty of not only the intended crime [target offense] but also of any other crime the perpetrator actually commit[ted] [nontarget offense] that w[as] a natural and probable consequence of the intended crime." (*People v. Medina* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 913, 920, internal quotation marks omitted.) "Thus, for example, if a person aid[ed] and abet[ted] only an intended assault, but a murder result[ed], that person

[could] be guilty of that murder, even if unintended, if it [wa]s a natural and probable consequence of the intended assault."

(People v. McCoy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1117.) A nontarget offense was a "natural and probable consequence" of the target offense when, judged objectively, it was reasonably foreseeable.

(Medina, at p. 920.) It did not matter whether the aider and abettor actually foresaw the nontarget offense. Instead, liability was measured by whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have or should have known that the charged offense was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the act aided and abetted. [Citation.]" (Ibid., internal quotation marks omitted.) Reasonable foreseeability was "a factual issue to be resolved by the jury." (Ibid.)

In 2014, for policy reasons, this court limited murder liability under the natural and probable consequences doctrine to murder in the second degree. (*People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, 165-167.) This court concluded, inter alia, that punishing a person for first degree murder when that person did not perpetrate or intend the killing was inconsistent with "reasonable concepts of culpability." (*Id.* at p. 165.)

In 2018, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill No. 1437, effective January 1, 2019, after it determined there was further "need for statutory changes to more equitably sentence offenders in accordance with their involvement in homicides." (*Gentile*, *supra*, 10 Cal.5th at pp. 838-839, quoting Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 1, subd. (b).) As amended by Senate Bill No. 1437, section 188 now provides, "Except as stated in subdivision (e) of Section 189

[governing felony murder], in order to be convicted of murder, a principal in a crime shall act with malice aforethought. Malice shall not be imputed to a person based solely on his or her participation in a crime." (§ 188, subd. (a)(3).) This amendment abolished the natural and probable consequences doctrine, as it relates to murder, altogether. (*Gentile*, at pp. 842-851.)³

Senate Bill No. 1437 also created section 1170.95, which established a petition procedure for defendants already convicted of murder under the former law to seek resentencing in the trial court if they believe that they "could not presently be convicted" of that crime "because of" the above amendments to sections 188 and 189. (Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 4.) Section 1170.95, subdivision (c), requires the court to appoint counsel for all properly pleaded petitions, and then conduct a prima facie analysis, with briefing by the parties, as to the petitioner's eligibility before determining whether to issue an order to show cause. (§ 1170.95, subd. (c); *People v. Lewis* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 952, 960-970.)

If the petitioner "makes a prima facie showing that he or she is entitled to relief, the court shall issue an order to show cause" and "shall hold a hearing to determine whether to vacate the

³ Senate Bill No. 1437 also amended section 189 to require that, to be convicted of felony murder, a person must: (1) be the actual killer; (2) a direct aider and abettor; or (3) act as a major participant in the underlying felony and with reckless indifference to human life. (§ 189, subd. (e).) Curiel was not convicted of felony murder and thus, section 189 is not at issue here.

murder . . . conviction and to recall the sentence and resentence the petitioner." (§ 1170.95, subds. (c), (d)(1).) At the order to show cause hearing, the prosecutor bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the petitioner is ineligible for resentencing. (§ 1170.95, subd. (d)(3).) "The prosecutor and the petitioner may rely on the record of conviction or offer new or additional evidence to meet their respective burdens." (*Ibid.*)⁴

C. The Superior Court denied Curiel's petition for resentencing because his conviction necessarily included a finding that he intended to kill

In April 2019, Curiel filed a petition for resentencing under section 1170.95. (CT 115-119.) After receiving briefing from the district attorney and Curiel's counsel (CT 120-206, 209-221), the Superior Court denied the petition in a written order. (CT 222-248.) The Superior Court stated that it had considered "the record of conviction including the minutes of the Superior Court, jury instructions given, and the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeal, case no. G037359." (CT 222-223.) The court then explained:

[I]t is apparent that Defendant/Petitioner's conviction and sentence rest upon the jury's finding that although he was not the actual shooter, he acted with the *intent to kill*. This finding was part of the "True" finding of the special circumstance pursuant to

17

⁴ Senate Bill No. 775, effective January 1, 2022, amended some of the procedural requirements in section 1170.95 and expanded relief to certain defendants convicted of attempted murder and manslaughter. To the effect these amendments affect the analysis here, they are discussed in the Argument section, below.

Penal Code § 190(a)(22); intentional killing for the benefit of a criminal street gang. The Court of Appeal specifically found that the evidence was sufficient to support that finding. A copy of the opinion is attached and incorporated by reference in this ruling.

(CT 222-223, emphasis in original.)

D. The Court of Appeal reversed the denial of Curiel's petition for resentencing and directed the Superior Court to hold an evidentiary hearing

The Court of Appeal reversed the judgment and remanded the matter to the Superior Court with directions to hold an evidentiary hearing under section 1170.95, subdivision (d). (Opn. 2, 6-9 (Curiel II).) The Court of Appeal held that, although the verdict on the gang-murder special circumstance proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Curiel had the intent to kill, it did not prove that he committed the requisite act of encouraging the actual killer as opposed to some other actor who was involved in the commission of the murder. (Curiel II, at 7-8.) The court rejected the People's argument that the finding of a specific intent to kill in the gang-murder special circumstance established beyond a reasonable doubt that Curiel possessed the required mental state under the new murder laws and that Curiel was therefore ineligible for resentencing relief as a matter of law. (Curiel II, at 6-7.)

ARGUMENT

A TRUE FINDING OF A GANG-MURDER SPECIAL CIRCUMSTANCE REQUIRES AN INTENT TO KILL, WHICH NECESSARILY PRECLUDES RELIEF UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 1170.95

A person who intends to kill does not fall within the provisions of section 1170.95. This conclusion is compelled by the language of Senate Bill No. 1437 and its legislative history. Thus, when as here, a petitioner's record of conviction shows he or she had such intent, the petitioner has failed to set forth a prima facie case for relief. And once all of the necessary procedural protections are afforded to the petitioner, the petition should be denied at the prima facie stage.

The Court of Appeal's conclusion, that the prosecution must also show the petitioner "committed the necessary acts to subject him to murder liability" as a direct aider and abettor, is contrary to the statutory language and purpose. Moreover, it improperly allows re-litigation of elements already resolved against petitioners and that were unchanged by Senate Bill No. 1437.

A. The Legislature enacted section 1170.95 to provide resentencing relief to defendants charged with or convicted of murder who lacked malice or who do not meet the amended elements of felony murder

The issue here involves the interpretation of section 1170.95, a question of law this court reviews de novo. (*Lewis*, *supra*, 11 Cal.5th at p. 961.) "As in any case involving statutory interpretation, [this court's] fundamental task is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose. [Citation.] [This court] begin[s] by examining the statute's words, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning.

[Citation]. [This court] look[s] to the entire substance of the statute . . . in order to determine the course and scope of the provision . . . [Citations]. That is, [it] construe[s] the words in question in context, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute . . . [Citations.] [This court] must harmonize the various parts of a statutory enactment . . . by considering the particular clause or section in the context of the statutory framework as a whole. [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*, internal quotation marks omitted.)

The plain language of section 1170.95 compels the conclusion that the legislation does not cover persons such as Curiel. Subdivision (a)(3) of section 1170.95 requires the petitioner to show that he or she "could not presently be convicted of murder or attempted murder because of changes to Sections 188 or 189 made effective January 1, 2019." (Italics added.) The only change to section 188 which became effective on January 1, 2019 was the addition of subdivision (a)(3), which prohibits malice from being "imputed to a person based solely on his or her participation in a crime" and specifies that "in order to be convicted of murder, a principal in a crime shall act with malice aforethought." (§ 188, subd. (a)(3).)

Section 188 always defined express malice as "a deliberate intention to unlawfully take away the life of a fellow creature," i.e., an intentional killing. (§ 188, subd. (a)(1).) Senate Bill No. 1437 did not change this. Accordingly, when the jury made a finding that required it to have found that a person had the intent to kill—including as an aider and abettor—that person is

necessarily ineligible for section 1170.95 relief as a matter of law. (*People v. Medrano* (2021) 68 Cal.App.5th 177, 183.) This rule applies even if the jury relies on the natural and probable consequences theory to convict the defendant of murder since the jury made the additional findings now required under Senate Bill No. 1437 when it found the special circumstance true.

If the Legislature had intended for courts to reconsider whether section 1170.95 petitioners committed the actus reus element of murder, it would have expressly said so. However, it did not. For example, the findings and declarations in support of Senate Bill No. 1437 state that "[i]t is necessary to amend the felony-murder rule and the natural and probable consequences doctrine, as it relates to murder, to ensure that murder liability is not imposed on a person who is not the actual killer, did not act with the intent to kill, or was not a major participant in the underlying felony who acted with reckless indifference to human life." (Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 1, subd. (f), italics added.) This clarifies that Senate Bill No. 1437's amendments to the law of malice murder were limited, in that they merely changed the mental state requirement in section 188 and nothing more. Moreover, eligibility in section 1170.95 requires that the petitioner could no longer be convicted of murder strictly "because of" those limited changes to section 188. (§ 1170.95, subd. (a)(3).) The Legislature certainly could have amended other elements of the crime of murder and expanded section 1170.95's eligibility criteria to include such other elements. But it chose not to do so. (In re D.B. (2014) 58 Cal.4th 941, 948

["When statutory language is unambiguous, [a court] must follow its plain meaning[.]", internal quotation marks and citations omitted].)

In any event, to the extent the language of section 1170.95 is ambiguous, its legislative history supports the conclusion that persons who intended to unlawfully kill are not covered by its provisions. (See *Carter v. California Dept. of Veteran's Affairs* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 914, 927, citation omitted ["Assuming [the statute] is susceptible of two conflicting interpretations, we turn to legislative history for guidance."].) In 2017, after this court decided *Chiu*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th 155, the Legislature adopted Senate Concurrent Resolution No. 48 (SCR 48), which outlined the Legislature's concerns. (Sen. Conc. Res. No. 48, Stats. 2017 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) res. ch. 175); see *Gentile*, *supra*, 10 Cal.5th at p. 845.)

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