Supreme Court No. S272238

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

FREDDY ALFREDO CURIEL, Defendant and Appellant

FILED WITH PERMISSION

(Fourth District Court of Appeal - Division Three No. G058604)

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal From Final Order Denying Penal Code Section 1170.95 Petition Orange County Superior Court No. 02CF2160 The Honorable Julian Bailey, Presiding Judge

> MICHELLE MAY PETERSON (SBN 111072) Certified Appellate Law Specialist State Bar of Calif. - Board of Legal Specialization P.O. Box 387 Salem MA 01970-0487 (978) 594-1925 (may111072@gmail.com)

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

ARGUMENT

I. Since counsel in the first proceeding did not litigate the issue of current-law murder *mens rea* within the 2006 special circumstance, and lacked incentive to do so in light of the minimal real-life difference between sentences of LWOP and 50 years-life as well as his inability to foresee this second proceeding, the special circumstance verdict is not Issue Preclusive.

A. <u>Introduction to Argument I.</u>

The gang special circumstance verdict in count 2 is the basis of the People's effort to issue-preclude Mr. Curiel's current petition. However, in the 2006 trial, counsel made no argument on that special circumstance, effectively conceding it. Nor did he have a realistic incentive for such an argument, since litigating the special circumstance could have undermined his defense of innocence while advocating for only the minimal "difference" between 50 years-life imprisonment and LWOP. Counsel in 2006 couldn't have predicted that litigating the special circumstance would become so important, because he couldn't predict S.B. 1437's enactment in 2018.

In this setting, issue preclusion is inapplicable on multiple bases. Section (E) addresses this as failure of the "actually litigated" *Lucido/Strong* element; sections (B), (C) and (D) address it from different exceptions in issue preclusion authority, which also help to explain <u>why</u> an attorney in trial counsel's position may have chosen not to litigate the special circumstance. The exceptions are discussed first for clarity of presentation.

29

* * *

The three issue preclusion exceptions in the next three sections invoke different analyses and bodies of caselaw. However, they are related to each other, in the sense that they all involve reasons why an attorney might have had little incentive to litigate vigorously an issue in a first proceeding that an adverse party in the later second proceeding seeks to assert as preclusive, and all recognize those reasons as supporting an issue preclusion exception.

Because these analyses involve issue preclusion *exceptions*, by definition they assume all elements of issue preclusion are satisfied. We assume it *arguendo* for the next three sections, but will then show in section (E) that they are not.

B. <u>Issue Preclusion exception for *lack of incentive* to litigate the special circumstance, on the basis that such litigation *could undermine counsel's main argument of innocence*.</u>

"[C]ourts have recognized that certain circumstances exist that so undermine the confidence in the validity of the prior proceeding that the application of collateral estoppel would be 'unfair' to the defendant as a matter of law. [Citation.] Such 'unfair' circumstances include a situation where the defendant had no incentive to vigorously litigate the issue in the prior action" (Roos v. Red (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 870, 880; accord Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore, supra, 439 U.S. 332, 330.) "The most general independent concern reflected in the limitation of issue preclusion by the full and fair opportunity requirement goes to the incentive to litigate vigorously in the first action." (18 Charles A. Wright & Kenneth W. Graham, Jr., Federal Practice and Procedure (2d ed. 2005), § 4423.) California authority recognizes this as essential to "due process requirements [being] satisfied" (*Mueller v. J.C. Penney Co.* (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 713, 720): "The party sought to be estopped must have had a fair opportunity to pursue his or her claim the first time. [Citation.] This includes a consideration of the incentive to litigate in the first action. [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*)

Here, Mr. Curiel's counsel had no realistic incentive to – and did not – litigate vigorously (or at all) the question presented by CALCRIM No. 700, given at 7TRT 1149-1150: <u>If</u> (and only if) the jury found Freddy Curiel guilty of first-degree murder, should it then find the special circumstance true?

Since the attorneys knew the trial court would be giving "natural and probable consequences" instructions for first-degree murder (CALCRIM Nos. 403 and 416/417 [see 6RT 923, 949-950]), Freddy Curiel's counsel could only realistically try to defend the Tejada murder charge by contending that Raul Ramirez erred in his belief that Freddy yelled gang slogans and participated in "angry staring." Counsel did so. (See 7TRT 1024-1028, 1032-1034, 1041-1042, 1055-1057, 1059-1060)

Moreover, as counsel would have known, the secondary question of whether the special circumstance should be found true **if** Freddy was convicted of first-degree murder reflected only the *de minimis* real-life difference between LWOP (special circumstance) and lifetime imprisonment with earliest parole eligibility in 50 years (no special circumstance). Thus, trial counsel could properly have decided that litigating the relatively unimportant special circumstance could undermine the case for innocence – the only case counsel and Mr. Curiel would have cared about. In that setting, issue preclusion is inapplicable.

In many criminal cases, it can be a solid tactical choice for counsel to focus only on an innocence defense, not diluting it with an alternative argument "But if you don't believe my first pitch, here's another...." Such an alternative pitch can be easy fodder for prosecution rebuttal. (See, e.g., People v. Cunningham (2001) 25 Cal.4th 926, 1006-1007 [argument that defendant was too intoxicated to form intent to kill "would have conceded defendant was the killer, in contravention of the chief defense theory"]; *People v. Thomas* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 489, 531-532 ["[T]he inconsistency inherent in arguing both innocence and lack of premeditation or deliberation would be apparent to the jury and would likely draw prosecutorial comment."]) It also tells jurors that even defendant's counsel agrees they may reject the client's defense, which often isn't the message counsel wants to convey. (See also McCoy v. Louisiana (2018) 584 U.S. ___ [138 S.Ct. 1500] [counsel cannot constitutionally argue "defendant is guilty, but not of everything," when client maintains innocence].)

An example of counsel focusing solely on innocence in a charged special circumstance case is *People v. Lopez* (2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 1, in which counsel argued Lopez was present but didn't participate in the robbery or the murder, with no special circumstance argument (*see id.* at p. 16). Another example is *People v. Eloy Gonzalez, supra,* 65 Cal.App.5th 520, discussed further below.

The above considerations were especially salient for special circumstance issues prior to S.B. 1437; which by definition involved only the difference between LWOP and life imprisonment with earliest parole eligibility in 25 years, at a time when it was perceived that few people were paroling. (*See, e.g.,*

32

D. Slater, "Can You Talk Your Way Out Of A Life Sentence?" New York Times Magazine (Jan. 1, 2020),

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/01/magazine/prison-parole-calif ornia.html [after Polly Klaas's 1993 murder, "parole all but disappeared," and "[b]y 1999, a lifer's chance of receiving parole was well below 1 percent"].) They were all the more salient in cases like Mr. Curiel's which had 25 year-to-life gang firearm enhancement allegations (Pen.Code, § 12022.53, subds. (d/e)), or other factors that made conviction without a special circumstance punishable in a manner functionally equivalent to the LWOP that would result with a special circumstance. (Cf. People v. Contreras (2018) 4 Cal.5th 349, 369 [for juvenile sentencing, "a sentence of 50 years to life is functionally equivalent to LWOP"].) In such situations, counsel and the defendant may have had little or no incentive to litigate the special circumstance because it would have been perceived as accomplishing nothing useful, while potentially undermining the argument of innocence.

In re Sokol (2d Cir. 1997) 113 F.3d 303 (*Sokol*) is an illustrative opinion where this was analyzed in another issue preclusion context, albeit a much less dramatic one.

Sokol was tried and convicted of grand larceny from the state's Medicaid program. The only evidence of the amount of the theft was at sentencing; it indicated losses of \$222,000, and the trial court imposed a \$222,000 restitution order without a separate hearing. The State then brought a civil action, and asserted issue preclusion based on the restitution order to fix Sokol's liability at \$222,000. Sokol declared bankruptcy and sought to discharge the civil liability, leading to the question of

33

whether the \$222,000 restitution order from the criminal case was issue-preclusive.

The Second Circuit held it was not, based on an issue preclusion exception. It held that Sokol lacked incentive to litigate the amount of damages vigorously at his criminal trial – and in fact did not litigate it at all – because his defense was based entirely on innocence:

Sokol not only had no incentive to litigate damages, he did not actually do so. His entire trial strategy was dedicated to proving his innocence, not to proving a lesser degree of damages. He did not deny that over \$1 million had been stolen from the State's Medicaid Program; he denied that he was a participant in the larceny. The focus of the criminal trial was on Sokol's knowledge of implicated billing practices and counterfeit sonograms, not on the amount stolen. Sokol never presented evidence as to the amount he stole, as that would have been inconsistent with a defense of innocence.

(In re Sokol, supra, 113 F.3d 303, 307.)

So too here. Mr. Curiel's counsel lacked incentive to make an alternative argument of "<u>if</u> you convicted my client of firstdegree murder you should still find the special circumstance not true," since that would presume guilt and conviction of firstdegree murder and 50 years-life imprisonment – functionally equivalent to LWOP – while being "inconsistent with a defense of innocence." And indeed, counsel made no such argument.

Similarly on point is *People v. Eloy Gonzalez, supra,* 65 Cal.App.5th 420 (opinion cited with approval in *Strong,* 13 Cal.5th 698, 712). Akin to *Sokol,* an alternative argument on the secondary issue that required assuming the defendant's guilt (the special circumstance) would have undermined the defense of innocence. But also, far worse than *Sokol,* such an argument would have offered the jury an option counsel wouldn't have wanted it to utilize – one yielding a sentence of 50 years-life – while doing nothing useful for the client. In rejecting the People's use of the special circumstance verdict as issue-preclusive of a section 1172.6 petition, the *Eloy Gonzalez* Court found that counsel "made no effort to litigate the special circumstance, **and had no reason to do so**." (*Id.* at p. 433 [boldface added].) Mr. Curiel's counsel was in the same situation.

This Court need go no further. Based on the "lack of incentive to litigate vigorously" exception, the special circumstance verdict is not issue-preclusive.

C. Issue Preclusion exception for the *unforeseeable change in* law - S.B. 1437's creation of Penal Code section 1172.6.

Another "well-settled equitable exception to the general rule holds that [issue] preclusion does not apply when there has been a significant change in the law since the factual findings were rendered that warrants reexamination of the issue. [Restatement citation.]" (*Strong, supra,* 13 Cal.5th 698, 716-717.)

For purposes of this section, the "significant change in law" was the creation of Penal Code section 1172.6 itself. Had counsel in 2006 been able to foresee the enactment of S.B. 1437 in 2018, he would have had much more reason to litigate the special circumstance, because he would have known the issue of intent to kill would become far more important 12 years later. Of course, counsel in 2006 lacked psychic powers. Thus, the unforeseeability of a new proceeding that hadn't been created at the time of the original one, in which the allegedly precluded issue (intent to kill) achieved equally unforeseeable extra importance, falls within the "change of law exception" to issue preclusion.³

Bobby v. Bies (2009) 556 U.S. 825, a capital murder case, provides an example. On appeal, Bies argued the evidence showed a mitigating factor of intellectual disability; however, the state Supreme Court affirmed the death sentence, holding that while this factor was mitigating, the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating. (State v. Bies (1996) 74 Ohio St.3d 320, 327-328 [658 N.E.2d 754, 761-762].) Years later, the U.S. Supreme Court held it unconstitutional to impose a death sentence on an intellectually disabled person, in Atkins v. Virginia (2002) 536 U.S. 304 (Atkins). Bies then argued that because the Ohio courts found he was intellectually disabled, the State was issue-precluded from relitigating that issue, so that Atkins barred a death sentence.

The U.S. Supreme Court disagreed. Most relevant here is its third basis, that "even if the core requirements for issue preclusion had been met, an exception to the doctrine's application would be warranted due to this Court's intervening decision in *Atkins* Because the change in law substantially altered the State's incentive to contest Bies' mental capacity, applying preclusion would not advance the equitable administration of the law. [Restatement citation.]" (*Bobby v. Bies, supra,* 556 U.S. 825, 836-837; *see also, e.g., Red Lake Band*

³ Forcing parties to bear the burden of preclusion for unforeseeable legislation that wouldn't be enacted until many years later would also be contrary to the policy bases underlying preclusion, since it would create "an incentive to conduct lengthy mini-trials on tangential issues." (*Maciel v. Commissioner* (9th Cir. 2007) 489 F.3d 1018, 1024.)

v. United States (Ct.Cl. 1979) 607 F.2d 930, 934-935 [when law creating new cause of action was unforeseeable, and there was little incentive for the plaintiff to litigate the allegedly precluded issue under the prior law, issue preclusion exception applied].)

So too here. At the time of the 2006 trial, the laws governing murder culpability were much more expansive. The change in law effected by S.B. 1437 12 years later "substantially altered" Mr. Curiel's incentive to contest issues relevant to the elements of murder under current law, but both the new law and the current proceeding were unforeseeable. Therefore, "applying preclusion would not advance the equitable administration of the law." (*Bies*, at p. 837.)

D. <u>Issue Preclusion exception, based on the relatively minor</u> <u>stakes of the issue in the first litigation, plus the</u> <u>unforeseeability of the future importance of that issue</u>.

Another well-recognized exception implicates the minimal stakes of the first proceeding, the 2006 trial, arising from the virtually nonexistent real-life difference between a special circumstance (LWOP) and no special circumstance (50 years-life imprisonment, "functionally equivalent to LWOP"). While that difference was *de minimis* at trial, it is now far more important, due to the People's assertion that the special circumstance issueprecludes the entire second proceeding.

Issue preclusion requires that "the role of the issue in the second action was foreseeable in the first action." (*Butler v. Pollard* (10th Cir. 1986) 800 F.2d 223, 224-225.) It must be "foreseeable that the facts to be the subject of estoppel would be of importance in future litigation." (*Mosher Steel Co. v. NLRB* (5th Cir. 1978) 568 F.2d 436, 440.)

Consequently, there is an issue preclusion exception for cases where the stakes in the first proceeding were relatively minor compared with those in the second, and the affected issue's importance in the second proceeding was unforeseeable in the first. (Restatement,§ 28, cmt. j, pp. 283-284.) Comment j to Restatement section 27 similarly refers to "a basis for an exception under § 28 [*op. cit. ante*] ... that the significance of the issue for purposes of the subsequent action was not sufficiently foreseeable at the time of the first action." (*Id.* at p. 261.)

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